» Earth Negotl ations Bulletin

A Report| ng Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotlatlons
On-lineat http://www.iisd.ca/csd/csd8/

Vol. 5 No. 157

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 8 May 2000

SUMMARY OF THE EIGHTH SESSION OF THE
UN COMMISSION ON SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT: 24 APRIL-5MAY 2000

The eighth session of the UN Commission on Sustainable Devel-
opment (CSD-8) met at UN Headquartersin New York from 24 April
to 5 May 2000. Participants addressed the sectoral theme of Integrated
Planning and Management of Land Resources, and the cross-sectoral
themes of Financial Resources, Trade and Investment, and Economic
Growth. The session al so considered the economic sector, Sustainable
Agriculture and Land Management. The conclusions and proposalsin
thefinal report of the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests (IFF) were
also discussed, aswere preparationsfor Rio+10.

After consideration of procedural itemson Monday, 24 April, the
CSD turned to thefirst of four Multi-Stakeholder Dialogues held on
24-25 April. A High-Level Segment followed on Wednesday, 26 April
and Thursday, 27 April, with the participation of 47 Ministersand
State Secretaries from environment, land, development and foreign
affairsministries. The High-Level Segment wasled by CSD-8 Chair
Juan Mayr Maldonado (Colombia) and included, for thefirst time, a
number of expertswho introduced thematic discussions.

Delegates commenced work in three drafting groups on Monday, 1
May, concluding their work at 4:45 a.m. on Saturday, 6 May. Delegates
agreed to adopt 11 decisions, including: preparationsfor theten-year
review of the UN Conference on Environment and Devel opment
(UNCED), including arecommendation that the event be heldina
developing country; aninvitation to ECOSOC and the General
Assembly (GA) to act on the proposed terms of referencefor an inter-
national arrangement on forests, as recommended by the | FF; and the
adoption of areport from the Ad Hoc I ntergovernmental Group of
Experts on Energy for Sustainable Development (held 6-10 March
2000), whichispreparing the energy agendafor CSD-9. Protracted
negotiationstook place within the drafting groups on, inter alia, the
disputed concept of the multifunctional character of agriculture and
land, governance, subsidies, environmental and sustainability assess-
ments, and equal accessto land and legal security of tenure.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE CSD

The CSD emerged from Agenda 21, the programme of action
adopted by UNCED in 1992. Agenda 21 called for the creation of the
CSD to: ensure effective follow-up of UNCED; enhance international

cooperation and rationalize intergovernmental decision-making
capacity; and examine progressin Agenda 21 implementation at the
local, national, regional and international levels. In 1992, the 47th
session of the GA set out in Resolution 47/191 the terms of reference
for the CSD, itscomposition, guidelinesfor the participation of NGOs,
the organization of work, the CSD'srel ationship with other UN bodies,
and Secretariat arrangements. The CSD held itsfirst substantive
session in June 1993 and has met annually since then.

In June 1997, five years after UNCED, the GA held a Specia
Session (UNGASS) to review implementation of Agenda21. Negotia-
tionsheld inaCommittee of theWhole, aswell as several ministerial
groups, produced aProgramme for the Further | mplementation of
Agenda21. Among the decisions adopted at UNGASS wasanew five-
year CSD work programme, which identifies sectoral, cross-sectoral
and economic sector/major group themesfor the subsequent four
sessions of the CSD. Overriding issuesfor each year are poverty, and
consumption and production patterns.

Thesixth session of the CSD met from 20 April to 1 May 1998.
Participants considered the economic theme of industry and the
sectoral theme of strategic approachesto freshwater management.
They also reviewed implementation of the Programme of Action for
the Sustai nable Development of Small 1sland Devel oping States and
discussed the cross-sectoral themes of technol ogy transfer, capacity
building, education, science and awarenessraising. Threedrafting
groups negotiated seven decisions at CSD-6.

INTHISISSUE

A Brief Historyof theCSD . ....... ... ...t 1
" Reportof CSD-8. . ..o e 2
Multi-Stakeholder Dialogue . .................... 2
High-Level Segment .. .......... ... ...t 3
CSD-8DECISIONS. . . .ot vo vt 4
Penultimate Plenary Meeting. . . .................. 8
ClosingPlenary . ... 9
CSD-OPlenary. . ..o 9

A Brief Analysisof CSD-8. . ........................ 10
ThingstoLooOKFor. . ... 1

Thisissue of the Earth NegotiationsBulletin © <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by TonyaBarnes <tonya@iisd.org>, Peter Doran <pfdoran@hotmail.com>, Jonathon Hanks
<joh.hanks@iiiee.lu.se>, Wendy Jackson <wendy@iisd.org> and Alison Ormsby <alison@iisd.org>.The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing
Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree <kimo@iisd.org>. Digital editing by LeilaMead <leila@interport.net> and Ken Tong <ken@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the
Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment,
Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-ENV.) General Support for the
Bulletin during 2000 is provided by the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Environment of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairsand Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairsand Ministry
of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the Government of Australia, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility
(GEF) and BP Amoco. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 11SD can be contacted by e-mail at
<info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the
authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of [1SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and
only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent
toe-mail distribution listsand can befound onthe Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.callinkages/. The satelliteimagewastaken above New York ©2000 TheLiving Earth,
Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 2

The seventh session of the CSD met from 19-30 A pril 1999. Partic-
ipants considered the economic theme of tourism, the sectoral theme
of oceans and seas, and the cross-sectoral theme of consumption and
production patterns. They also prepared for the GA's Special Session
to review the Barbados Programme of Action for the Sustainable
Development of Small Island Devel oping States. Del egates adopted 12
decisions, which addressed, inter alia, the need to reverse the down-
ward trend in official development assistance (ODA), preparation for
CSD-9'swork on energy, and improving the integration of consump-
tion and production policiesinto the CSD’swork programme.

REPORT OF CSD-8

CSD-8 Chair Juan Mayr opened the eighth session on Monday, 24
April. He urged del egations to use the session as an opportunity for
frank, sincere and transparent dial ogue, noting theinternational dead-
lock onanumber of theissuesunder consideration. Herecalled that the
election of oneVice-Chair of the CSD-8 Bureau had been postponedin
1999, and reported that African States had agreed to nominate Abder-
rahmane Merouane (Algeria). Merouane was elected to sit on the
CSD-8 Bureau with Chair Mayr, and Vice-Chairs Patrick McDonnell
(Ireland), Zvetolyub Basmagjiev (Bulgaria) and Choi Seok-young
(Republic of Korea).

Nitin Desai, UN Under-Secretary-General for Economic and
Social Affairs, described his expectationsfor the session, including:
practical guidelinesfor the effective integration of economic, ecolog-
ical and social dimensions of land and agriculture; amove beyond
rhetoric on waysto address declining ODA; anew focus on trade and
environment; and guidance for ECOSOC and the GA on the follow-up
tothelFF.

Chair Mayr outlined the organization of work for CSD-8, noting
the establishment of three drafting groupsto conduct negotiations
throughout the second week of the session: Drafting Group | on Inte-
grated Planning and M anagement of Land Resources, and Agriculture,
chaired by Patrick McDonnell; Drafting Group Il on Financial
Resources and M echanisms, and Economic Growth, Trade and I nvest-
ment, chaired by Choi Seok-young; and Drafting Group 11 on prepara-
tionsfor the ten-year review of UNCED and “ other matters,” chaired
by Zvetolyub Basmajiev. Chair Mayr also announced five thematic
high-level meetingsto take place on Wednesday and Thursday, 26-27
April. No meetings were scheduled for Friday, 28 April.

After addressing procedural mattersand listening to reportson
intersessional activities, delegates and representatives from major
groups participated in aMulti-Stakehol der Dialogue on Monday after-
noon and Tuesday, 24-25 April, focusing on sustainable agriculture.

MULTI-STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE ON SUSTAINABLE
AGRICULTURE

During the Multi-Stakehol der Dial ogue on sustainabl e agriculture,
representatives of business and industry, trade unions, farmers and
non-governmental organizations (NGOs), aswell asrepresentatives of
indigenous people and scientists, offered statements on four dialogue
themes. Thefour themeswere: choicesin agricultural production tech-
niques, consumption patterns and safety regulations— potentialsand
threatsto sustainable agriculture; best practicesin land resource
management to achieve sustainable food cycles; knowledgefor a
sustainable food system —identifying and providing for education,
training, knowledge sharing and information needs; and globalization,
trade liberalization and investment patterns—economic incentivesand
framework conditions to promote sustainable agriculture.

Sessions commenced with short presentations by each stakehol der
group, followed by reactions from two governments, general dialogue
and closing recommendations. Mayr emphasi zed that the dial ogue and
the recommendations made by representativeswould inform the
subseguent discussions of the CSD on sustainable agriculture.

CHOICESIN AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION TECH-
NIQUES, CONSUMPTION PATTERNSAND SAFETY REGU-
LATIONS: Farmers' representatives supported land tenurefor farm
workers, the establishment of regul atory frameworksfor biotech-
nology and deepening public understanding through multi-stakehol der
participation. Trade unions called for recognition of core labor stan-
dards, including the rights of workersto organize and bargain collec-
tively. They recommended directing further attention to the holistic
nature of agriculture and food security, including the social, cultural,
health and environmental dimensions of agricultural production.
NGOs recommended: increased financial resourcesfor research and
development of organic agriculture; increased government support
and resourcesto devel op environmental and socioeconomic indicators
for sustainable agriculture; and increased clarity onliability issuesfor
farmers using biotechnol ogy.

Industry stressed support for aneeds-driven participatory approach
to appropriate innovation. Indigenous peopl €' s representatives advo-
cated mechanismsto ensure land tenure, in particul ar national and
international legal mechanismsto protect indigenous people’sland and
territory rights. They also supported partici pation of indigenous people
asadistinct mgjor group inthe CSD process. NGOs and indigenous
people’s representatives recommended placing amoratorium on
genetically modified organisms until adeguate research on their impact
iscomplete.

BEST PRACTICESIN LAND RESOURCE MANAGE-
MENT: NGOs recommended: adopting an agro-ecol ogy and organic
approach to research and devel opment; balancing investmentsin
conventional agricultural research with aternative agricultural tech-
niques; and establishing amulti-stakehol der mechanismto enable
ongoing dial ogue on land management and land access, aswell ason
criteriaand indicatorsfor best practices. Farmers' organizations
supported creating participatory approachesto identifying and imple-
menting best practi ces. Indigenous peopl €' s representatives recom-
mended devel opment of national and international mechanismsto
achieve secure and equitable land tenure. Industry recommended
promotion and support of partnershipsamong all stakeholdersinthe
agricultural sector. Trade unions promoted policies and measuresto
stop unsustainable agricultural practicesand supported monitoring and
reporting efforts by workers, trade unions and employers.

KNOWLEDGE FOR A SUSTAINABLE FOOD SYSTEM:
Indigenous peopl € s representatives underscored the importance of
relying on indigenous systemsfor protecting their knowledge and
called on governmentsto ratify and implement national and interna-
tional legal mechanismsto protect the right of indigenous peopleto
lands and territories. Trade unions stressed the importance of educa-
tion asacapacity-building tool and recommended full and effective
participation by all stakeholders. Farmers' organizations advocated
traditional knowledge asafundamental basisfor scientific research
and recommended partnershipsto create new local knowledge systems
that enhance production systems. They also promoted greater use of
Internet resources. | ndustry representatives recommended strength-
ened flows of information and increased agricultural extension
services. NGOs recommended open and sustainableintellectual prop-
erty rights (IPR) regimes, including full participation of indigenous
people.



Vol. 5No. 157 Page 3

Monday, 8 May 2000

GLOBALIZATION, TRADELIBERALIZATION AND
INVESTMENT PATTERNS: NGOs supported further multi-stake-
holder meetings or processesto assess the impacts of trade liberaliza-
tion measures on sustai nable devel opment, based on the sustainable
agriculture and rural development (SARD) indicators adopted by
CSD-3. They aso recommended reform of the World Trade Organiza-
tion (WTO) Agreement on Agriculture and other related agreements,
aswell asinstitutional reform of the WTO through cooperation,
collaboration and participation. Industry representati ves supported:
fair and open trade to achieve sound and sustai nable agriculture; poli-
ciesto reduce agricultural trade barriersthat work against sustainable
development; and aclearer definition of sustainability through
science-based indicators and criteriafor success, against which
progress can be measured. | ndigenous peopl €' s representatives empha-
sized investment in small-scal e organic and other ecol ogical systems
of agriculture. Farmers' organizations recommended all ocation of
better landsfor small farmersto practice sustainable agriculture for
domestic consumption and food security. Trade unions called for CSD
support for international rulesthat incorporate corelabor standards as
contained in the relevant instruments of the International Labor Orga-
nization.

Chair Mayr produced asummary of theinitiativesdiscussed during
the Multi-Stakeholder Dialogue, which wasforwarded to del egates
participating in the High-L evel Segment for consideration, and
included inthe CSD-8 report (E/CN.17/2000/L.1).

HIGH-LEVEL SEGMENT

TheHigh-Level Segment took place on 26-27 April, and was
comprised of expertinput, high-level statements, and general
dialogue. To open the Segment, UN Deputy Secretary General Louise
Fréchette described, inter alia, the continuing human plunder of the
global environment and noted that responses are often “too few, too
littleand too late.” The IFF Co-ChairsllkkaRistimaki (Finland) and
Bagher Asadi (Iran) outlined the IFF process and results, highlighting
the consensus reached on proposal s for action and the proposed estab-
lishment of aUN Forum on Forests (UNFF).

LAND AND AGRICULTURE : Expert I nput: Gordon Conway,
President of the Rockefeller Foundation, defined sustainable agricul -
tureasthat which isresistant to stress and shock, and which combines
productivity, stability and equity. Miguel A. Altiere, University of
Cadlifornia, Berkeley, outlined the achievements, trends and i mpacts of
modern agriculture.

High-L evel Satements: Portugal, on behalf of the EU, called for
equal accessto land and legal security of tenure. Nigeria, on behalf of
the G-77/Ching, called for measuresto cushion theimpact of financial
volatility on developing countries and the transfer of environmentally
sound technologies (ESTs), and expressed difficulty with the disputed
concept of the multifunctional character of agriculture. Argentina,
Australiaand Uruguay opposed any reference to the concept of the
multifunctional character of agriculture. Mexico called for afocuson
the Biosafety Protocol and deforestation. Other ideasraised during
discussioninclude: testing of agricultural biological productsand tech-
nology; therole of urban agriculturein achieving food security; and a
consultative forum on SARD.

Dialogue: Interventionsduring the general dialogue mentioned the
need to improve accessto land and ESTSs, and the need for continued
stakeholder engagement.

PREPARATIONSFOR THE 2002 REVIEW OF PROGRESS
SINCE UNCED (R10+10): High-L evel Satements: The G-77/
Chinasuggested that: the CSD act as the preparatory committee for
Rio+10; atrust fund be created to facilitate the participation of devel-
oping countries; and devel oping countries decide on the location of

Rio+10. The EU called for coherence between Rio+10 and follow-up
to other UN conferences, and urged ratification of the Kyoto Protocol
by 2002. The UK recommended naming Rio+10 “ Poverty, Develop-
ment and the Environment.” The Republic of Korea, Brazil and South
Africaasked to be considered as possible hostsfor Rio+10. Canada
called for ashift away from the practice of negotiating adeclaration
document.

Dialogue: Other ideasraised include: creation of atrust fund for
major group participation; therole of regional bodies; the mobilization
of civil society; and measurabl e targetsfor eco-efficiency.

FINANCE AND INVESTMENT: Expert Input: Konrad von
Moltke, International Institute for Sustainable Devel opment, recom-
mended, inter alia: international discipline for financial markets;
ensuring abal ance between investor rights and public obligations; and
inclusion of investment provisionsin multilateral environmental
agreements (MEAS). José Antonio Ocampo, Executive Secretary of
the Economic Commission for Latin Americaand the Caribbean,
recommended, inter alia: international cooperation to meet ODA
targets; developing criteriafor foreign direct investment (FDI); and
directing FDI to clean energy projects.

High-L evel Satements. The G-77/Chinaurged donor countriesto
cancel or substantially reduce debt burdens and to meet their Agenda
21 financial commitments. The EU emphasized: the need to reverse
declining ODA and improveits quality through more efficient
delivery, improved allocation and better coordination; and implemen-
tation of financing pledgesfor Heavily Indebted Poor Countries
(HIPC).

Dialogue: Delegations and stakehol ders al so mentioned: debt
cancellation; “ Struggling Against Poverty” asa possible slogan for
Rio+10; the need for the active participation of finance ministers;
reconciliation of IPR regimeswith farmers' rights; and the changing
role of private finance.

TRADE: Expert Input: Viaapre-recorded video message to the
CSD, MikeMoore, Director-General of the WTO, suggested that the
WTO may contribute to sustainable devel opment through, inter alia,
trade agreements with non trade-discriminatory environmental objec-
tives. Martin Khor, Third World Network, recommended overhauling
the WTO decision-making system and increasing the CSD’s capacity
to act asan alternative forum on trade, devel opment and the environ-
ment.

High-L evel Statements: The G-77/Chinacalled on devel oped
countriesto improve market accessfor devel oping country exportsand
to help devel oping countries benefit from FDI and ODA. The Euro-
pean Commission, for the EU, reiterated its commitment to duty- and
guota-free accessfor essentialy all exportsfrom less-devel oped coun-
triesand recommended that MEAsand WTO Agreements have equal
status. Norway, with Ecuador, supported the use of sustainability
reviewsin trade negotiations. The Philippines noted that the burden of
economic adjustment has shifted to the most vulnerable popul ations.
Pakistan called for further studies of environmental taxesto ensure
optimal results, and for trade on preferential terms. Chile stated that
problems of rural poverty cannot be solved while distorted market
conditions exist.

Dialogue: Other ideasraised by delegations and stakehol ders
included: the risks associated with globalization; trust in national
processes; aset of guidelines on the relationshi p between trade and
environmental impacts; overcoming the Asian financia crisis; and
institutional coordination.



Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 4

CSD-8 DECISIONS

INTEGRATED PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT OF
LAND RESOURCES: Thedraft decision onintegrated planning and
management of land resources, negotiated in Drafting Group |,
addresses theimportance of aholistic approach to sustainable devel op-
ment, including integrated watershed management and application of
an ecosystem-based approach that takes into account the necessary
bal ance between environmental conservation and rural livelihood.
Negotiations were based on the Report of the Intersessional Ad Hoc
Working Group on Integrated Planning and Management of Land
Resources; and on Agriculture (E/CN.17/2000/17). The Secretary-
General’s Reports on Integrated Planning and Management of Land
Resources (E/CN.17/2000/6) and Integrated Planning and Manage-
ment of Land Resources: Conservation of Biological Diversity (E/
CN.17/2000/6/Add.4) provided further background for this discus-
sion.

After abrief meeting of Drafting Group | on Friday, 5 May, the
contact group dealing with both land and agriculture, convened to
resolve most of the contentiousissuesin the draft text onland. The
contact group convened on numerous occasionsto deal with
outstanding land and agricultureissues until just after 2:00 am. on
Saturday. Throughout this period anumber of delegationsfacilitated
agreement on outstanding issuesin informal-informal negotiations.

Debate over language on good governance, proposed by the EU
and opposed by the G-77/China, was resolved during informal-
informal negotiations. Delegates agreed to text on transparent, effec-
tive, participatory and accountabl e governance conduciveto sustain-
able devel opment and responsive to the needs of the people.

A referenceto protection and enhancement of greenhouse sinks,
proposed by Australia, supported by the US and the EU, and opposed
by the G-77/China, Brazil and Egypt, was debated by a contact group
and changed to “ carbon sequestration.” New text specifically
addressing the removal of land mineswas debated and agreed during
informal discussions, reflecting language from GA Resol ution 1998/
5326. Disagreement between the EU and the G-77/Chinapersisted
during discussions on a section addressing access to land and security
of tenure. The EU suggested referenceto “equal” accessand “legal”
tenurein four parts of the decision. The US and Canada supported the
EU in opposing G-77/Chinaproposalsto link policy adoptioninthis
areato constitutions, culture and traditions. After many rounds of
negotiation, the matter was taken up in the contact group. When
informal-informal consultationsfailed to resolve theissue, facilitator
Navid Hanif (Pakistan) proposed that the issue appear only onceinthe
text, within language on promoting improved access and tenure.

The G-77/Chinaand the US suggested text: calling on govern-
ments and the international community to ensure that the effects of
bi otechnol ogy on health and the environment arefully explored before
being introduced into the market; and on promoting applications of
bi otechnology that do not pose unacceptablerisks, bearing in mind
ethical considerations, asappropriate. Additionally, the US proposed
compromisetext urging governmentsto sign, ratify and support imple-
mentation of the CartagenaProtocol on Biosafety, rather than to ensure
itsentry into force.

A new paragraph on transboundary effects of land-use planning,
supported by the US and the EU and strongly opposed by Turkey, was
rejected. Canada proposed, and many del egates supported, text urging
governmentsto formulate and implement strategiesthat provide for
therehabilitation of land degraded by mining.

On stakeholder participation, the G-77/China proposed anew para-
graphinviting governmentsto pursue or strengthen the process of
decentralization. The EU proposed inclusion of referenceto training
programmesfor farmers and agro-food industries, while the G-77/

Chinapreferred training programmesfor land users. The EU and the
USrequested del etion of specific referenceto the UN Convention to
Combat Desertification (CCD), the Convention on Biological Diver-
sity (CBD), and the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change
(FCCC). Australiaand the G-77/China preferred to name the relevant
conferences. The US, supported by the G-77/China, Canadaand
Australia, supported omission of the 2002 target date for ratifying the
Kyoto Protocol. The EU and Japan preferred to retain the date but it
was not included in thefinal draft.

Final Decision: The decision onintegrated planning and manage-
ment of land resources notes that the main objectives of activitiesin
thisareamust be pursued in full accordance with Agenda21 and the
Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda 21.

On prevention and/or mitigation of land degradation, governments
and the international community are encouraged to devel op policies,
programmes, partnerships and strategiesto: eradicate poverty;
promote conservation of soil, water and vegetation; rehabilitate land
degraded by land mines; and strengthen institutional frameworks at all
levels.

On accessto land and security of tenure, the decision recognizes
the existence of different laws and systemswhil e advocating sustain-
ableland tenure and land reform that will include traditional land-
ownersand users as active participantsin land-use planning. Text also
encouragesthe international community and UN agencies and organi-
zationsto provide technical and financial support to minimize socio-
economic obstaclesto thisend.

Critical sectorsand issuesidentified include: biodiversity; forests;
drylands; mountain areas; wetlands and coastal zones; natural disas-
ters; rural-urban and land management interactions; and minerals,
metals and rehabilitation in the context of sustainable development.

On stakeholder participation, governments are urged to include
women, land workers, peopleliving in poverty, indigenous and local
communities and young peoplein rural and urban land-use planning
and management.

Oninternational cooperation, including cooperation for capacity
building, information sharing and technology transfer, the decision
addresses possi bl e actions by governmentsto: support implementation
of other relevant conventions; provide technological assistance;
promote research and training; foster information dissemination; build
capacity; and take into account the work of other relevant UN bodies.

AGRICULTURE: The CSD’sdecision on agriculture focuseson
SARD, recognizing the special and important place of agriculturein
society for food and fiber production, food security and social and
economic development. The decision addresses, inter alia, poverty
eradication, prioritiesfor action, access to resources, finance, biotech-
nology, genetic resources and international cooperation. Deliberations
were based on the Secretary-General’s Report on SARD (E/CN.17/
2000/7, Add.1 and Add.2) and on the Report of the Intersessional Ad
Hoc Working Group on Integrated Planning and Management of Land
Resources, and on Agriculture (E/CN.17/2000/11).

Negotiationsin Drafting Group | were suspended after Chair
McDonnell invited Navid Hanif to convene a contact group during the
morning session on Thursday, 4 May. The contact group reconvened
on numerous occasionsto discuss all of the outstanding issues, and
completed itswork shortly before 2:00 a.m. on Saturday morning.

During discussions on the draft introduction, the G-77/China
resisted effortsby the EU tointroducetext on food “ safety,” suggesting
that they bordered on setting standards. A reference to the FAO/Neth-
erlands Conference on the multifunctional character of agriculture,



Vol. 5No. 157 Page 5

Monday, 8 May 2000

“Cultivating our Futures,” was del eted from the introduction by the G-
77/China. The EU, Japan and the US defended the “unique” role of
agriculturein society.

On the priority issue of financing for SARD, the G-77/China
emphasized international support. During the final hours of negotia-
tion in the contact group, difficultiesin reaching agreement on the
balance of domestic and international financing led to suggestionsthat
thefinance section be del eted, with groups of countries expressing
extreme disappointment. The EU, drawing on accepted |language from
the drafting group working on finance, proposed text stating that
financing for Agenda 21 implementation is expected to be met, in
general, from domestic resources.

On the disputed concept of the multifunctional character of agri-
culture, protracted informal-informal negotiationstook place after
developing countries and others opposed including any referenceto
the concept in the document. The US facilitated informal discussions
over a24-hour period on this paragraph. Thefinal draft paragraph
makes no explicit reference to multifunctionality.

During discussionsin the contact group on biotechnol ogy, devel-
oping countries sought to delete reference to the Cartagena Protocol.
Some countries described the introduction of text on using “objective,
transparent, science-based risk assessment procedures’ as an attempt
to reinterpret the Protocol, in the absence of an accompanying refer-
enceto “risk management.” On biotechnol ogy, developing countries
argued for areferenceto ethically and environmentally acceptable
applications. On living modified organisms (LM Os), one country
pointed out that the Cartagena Protocol not only addressesthe release
of LMOs, but also food, feed and processing.

Discussing participation, developing countries proposed the dele-
tion of language on continuation of amulti-stakeholder dialogue on
SARD. Agreement was reached after amendmentswere introduced to
clarify that the dial ogue would proceed, facilitated by FAO and the
CSD Secretariat, within existing resources and would not amount to
the creation of anew institution.

Final Decision: Theintroduction sets out the basisfor achieving
SARD ininternational agreementsand callsfor their full implementa-
tionat all levels. It focuseson SARD in accordancewith, inter alia: the
principlesof the Rio Declaration; Chapter 14 of Agenda 21; the Rome
Declaration on World Food Security; and the World Food Summit. The
introduction also describes the special and important place of agricul-
turein society.

The prioritiesfor action section addresses the implementation of
SARD goals, access to resources, poverty, finance, technology
transfer, biotechnology, genetic resources, pest management, desertifi-
cation, accessto land and security of tenure, emergency preparedness,
and water resources. The section on prioritiesfor action callson
governmentsto:

« elaborate national strategies;

« reaffirm commitmentsto achieving food security and to the World
Food Summit goal of reducing by one-half the number of under-
nourished peopleby 2015;

 developpolicy and legal frameworks,

» promotenatural resource management, while promoting tradi-
tional and local knowledge;

* pursuean ecosystem approach;

 pay attentionto health protection; and

« takeinto account small-scalefarmersand agricultural workers.
Use of relevant UN agreements and Global Environment Facility

(GEF) programmesis encouraged for the promotion of SARD-related
initiatives. Governments are encouraged to continue studying the
economic, social and environmental aspects of SARD, avoiding unjus-
tifiabletrade barriers and taking account of FAO and other discussions.

Partiesto the FCCC are encouraged to use relevant mechanismsto
support SARD initiativesthat result, inter alia, in reduced greenhouse
gasemissionsor carbon sequestration. On poverty eradication,
governments and the international community are urged to implement
relevant commitments, including those of the Copenhagen Declaration
and the Programme of Action of the World Summit on Social Develop-
ment.

Text onfinancing for SARD notesthat Agenda 21 implementation
will be met in general from domestic resources, and urges govern-
ments to mobilize domestic and international resources. The section
also states the importance of additional financial support for devel-
oping countries, and callsfor effortsto direct asubstantial share of
ODA totheagricultural and rural sectors, especially inleast-devel oped
countries (LDCs) and net food-importing countries. Text on tech-
nology transfer and capacity building encourages governments, rele-
vant international, regional and national bodies and the private sector
to support devel oping country research and efforts on natural resource
management. Governments and the international community are
encouraged to share natural disaster early-warning systems.

On biotechnology, governments are “ encouraged to explore, using
transparent science-based risk assessment procedures, aswell asrisk
management procedures, applying the precautionary approach —as
articulated in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration and recalled in the
CartagenaProtocol to the CBD —the potential of appropriate and safe
biotechnology for enhancing food security for al.” Governmentsare
urged to ratify the Cartagena Protocol, and to develop legal frame-
worksfor, inter alia, the risk analysis and management of LM Os.
Governments and international organizations are encouraged to
promote only those applications of biotechnology that do not pose
unacceptablerisksto public health or the environment, bearing in
mind ethical considerations, as appropriate. On genetic resources,
governments are urged to finalize the negotiations on the I nternational
Undertaking on Plant Genetic Resourcesfor Food and Agricultureas
soon as possible, and implement other rel evant agreements.

Onintegrated pest management and plant nutrition, the decision
statesthat the implementation of sanitary and phytosanitary measures
must be in accordance with WTO Agreements. On desertification and
drought, thereisacall for programmes devel oped under the CCD. Text
on accessto land and security of land tenure recogni zes the existence
of different national lawsand/or systems of land access and tenure, and
encourages governments, at appropriate levels, to devel op and/or
adopt policiesand implement laws that guarantee well-defined and
enforceableland rights and promote equal accessto land and legal
security of tenure. The section al so addresses early warning systems,
natural disasters and environmental monitoring, and water resources.

The section oninternational cooperation addressestrade, informa
tion, UN and other international activities, and participation. Text on
trade recogni zes programmes to enhance commodity-based diversifi-
cation inincreasing foreign exchange earnings and employment in
developing countries. Governments and international organizations
are urged to disseminateinformation on agricultural practices, technol-
ogies and markets. The section also addresses: the activities of the
World Bank and I nternational Monetary Fund, the FAO, and the Inter-
national Fund for Agricultural Development; thefinalization of nego-
tiations on alegally binding instrument on certain persistent organic
pollutants; and research of the Consultative Group on I nternational
Agricultural Research.

On participation, thereisan invitation to the FAO and the CSD
Secretariat, in consultation with governments, relevant organizations
and major groups, to continue the multi-stakeholder dialogue on
SARD, emphasizing work on case studiesin preparation for CSD-10
and Rio+10.



Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 6

FINANCIAL RESOURCESAND MECHANISMS: The deci-
sion on Financial Resources and Mechanisms, negotiated by Drafting
Group I, highlights major challenges and areas of particular concern,
including definitions of governance, trade-distorting and environmen-
tally harmful subsidies, trade liberalization, and the Clean Develop-
ment M echanism (CDM) under the FCCC. The Report of the Ad Hoc
Intersessional Working Group on Financial Resources and Mecha
nismsand on Economic Growth, Trade and Investment (E/CN.17/
2000/10) served as abasisfor negotiation. Negotiations were al so
conducted in contact group and in informal-informal sessions.

The G-77/Chinamade several proposalsrelating to theissues of
debt and financing for Agenda 21 implementation. Throughout the
negotiations, the G-77/Chinastressed that devel oped countries should
honor Agenda 21 financial commitments. The US suggested that
growth in private capital flows and the declinein ODA are trendsthat
are unlikely to bereversed, and this hasimplicationsfor meeting
Agenda 21 commitments. On theissue of debt relief, the G-77/China
proposed text urging countries unable to provide debt cancellations
because of legal provisionsto provide“equivaent relief.” The EU
noted that aunifying principlefor the mobilization of ODA isthe erad-
ication of poverty through sustai nable devel opment in the framework
of theinternational devel opment targets derived from UN conferences
and summits.

Many issues stimulated intense debate among del egates. Extensive
deliberations occurred on the issue of governance. The EU preferred
using “good” governance, whereas the G-77/Chinaand Cameroon
supported “responsive to the needs of the people, based on efficient,
participatory, transparent and accountabl e public service, policy-
making processes and administration,” which istext from GA Resolu-
tion 54/231. After informal consultations, the group accepted text
referring to transparent, effective, participatory and accountable
governance, conducive to sustai nable devel opment and responsive to
the needs of the people.

Delegations struggled to reach agreement on text regarding subsi-
dies. The EU, supported by Australia, the Republic of Koreaand
Norway, suggested referring to “ trade-distorting and” environmentally
harmful subsidies. The G-77/China, the US, New Zealand and Japan
opposed. The phrase was eventually deleted, removing dl referenceto
“the gradual phasing out of trade-distorting and environmentally
harmful subsidies.”

Similarly, consensuswas el usive on text regarding the Kyoto
Protocol and the CDM. Australia, Canada, the EU, New Zealand and
Norway supported clear reference, whilethe US stated that it could not
accept text in any formulation. The G-77/Chinaemphasized that
because the CDM was not yet finalized, they could not agree on any
language. The paragraph was del eted.

Extensive debate al so ensued on language referring to the creation
of an ad hocintergovernmental panel to undertake an analytical study
of thelack of progressinthefulfillment of financial commitments. The
final text reflectsthat no agreement could be reached on convening
such apanel.

Final Decision: Theintroduction to the decision notesthat: activi-
tiesregarding financial resources and mechanisms should be pursued
in accordance with Agenda21; the approach to sustainable devel op-
ment should be holistic; States have common but differentiated
responsibilities; and new and additional financing for Agenda 21
implementation will berequired. Globalization isidentified asasource
of opportunities, risks and challenges, contributing to private capital
flows. The declinein ODA and recurrence of financial crisesareiden-
tified askey recent patterns.

The section on prioritiesfor future work addresses:

 mobilization of both domestic and international financia

resourcesfor sustainable devel opment;
 promotion of international cooperation for sustainable devel-
opment;
« strengthening of existing mechanismsand expl oration of
innovative financial mechanisms;
improvement of institutional capacity; and

« promotion of public/private partnerships.

Text also notesthat acomprehensive status meeting will beheldin
2002, reflecting outcomes from the 2001 High-L evel Event on
Financing for Development.

Text on mobilization of domestic financial resourcesfor sustain-
able development urges governmentsto:

« promotethe mobilization of domestic financial resourcesthrough
sound macroeconomic policies, adynamic private sector, and
participatory processesfor devel opment;

* increase cooperation for addressing capital flight and issues
related to capital repatriation;

* integrate environmental considerationsinto public policiesand
programmes;

 continueto design and implement National Sustainable Devel-
opment Strategiesby 2002;

 implement arange of economicinstruments; and

« provideincentivesfor sustained privateinvestment.

The section on promotion of international cooperation and mobili-
zation of international finance for sustainable devel opment highlights,
inter alia:

« developed and devel oping country partnershipsto devel op, adopt
and implement sustai nable devel opment strategies,

« increased alocation of ODA to eradicate poverty;

 speedy implementation of theenhanced HIPC initiativeand
fulfillment of donor financing pledges;

« development of national poverty strategies|linking debt relief with
poverty eradication;

* inclusion of new eligible countriesin the enhanced HIPC initiative
process;

« liquidity constraintsthat may require debt treatment, including
debt reduction measuresfor middle-income devel oping countries;

« facilitation of market-driveninvestment;

« theroleof private capital flowsin supporting sustainable devel-
opment; and

* measuresto promote stableand transparent national and interna-
tional financia systems.

Text on strengthening existing financial mechanismsand the
exploration of innovative onesrefersto: cooperation between govern-
ments and international organizations; the existing financial mecha-
nismsof MEAS; and therole of the GEF. Thetext statesthat
improvement of institutional capacity and promotion of public/private
partnershipswill take place through: private sector involvementin
financing sustainabl e development; maximizing effectivenessfor
comparative advantage; improving dial ogue between international
organizations aswell as between organizations and governments,
researching the rel ationship between FDI and sustainabl e devel op-
ment; capacity building to mobilize resources; and green budget
reforms.

ECONOMIC GROWTH, TRADE AND INVESTMENT: The
decision on Economic Growth, Trade and Investment, negotiated by
Drafting Group 11, addresses promotion of sustainable devel opment
through trade and economic growth, strengthening of institutional
cooperation, and actions toward making trade and environmental poli-
ciesmutually supportive. Negotiationswere based on the Report of the
Ad Hoc Intersessional Working Group (E/CN.17/2000/10).



Vol. 5No. 157 Page 7

Monday, 8 May 2000

Several issueswere also debated extensively in contact group and
informal-informal sessions. A contact group was convened to discuss
text suggested by the G-77/Chinaon commodity pricesand
commodity markets. Del egations proposed numerous amendments
using language from UNCTAD-X regarding commodity-based diver-
sification and foreign exchange earnings. Delegates deliberated exten-
sively on text proposed by the EU regarding the “ equitable”
distribution between nations of gainsfrom trade. The US maintained
that international trade isinherently inequitable. Consideration of text
on the elimination of trade distorting and protectionist policies
continued until the closing Plenary. Japan opposed using “trade
distorting,” whilethe US preferred reference to “ unjustifiable” non-
tariff barriersto trade. On the relationship between MEAsand WTO
Agreements, the G-77/China, supported by Norway, proposed text
referring to the equal status of the CBD and the TRIPs Agreement,
whilethe US preferred language stating that thereis no preordained
hierarchy between the two. Del egates agreed to language introduced
by Canada, noting “that both trade agreements and MEAs are devel -
oped and negotiated in pursuit of legitimate multilateral objectivesin
support of sustainable development.”

The G-77/Chinapreferred deletion of the text stating that environ-
mental standards should not be lowered asameansto attract FDI,
whilethe EU noted that similar language was accepted at CSD-4. The
issuewas deferred to thefinal Plenary, where delegates agreed to
deletethetext.

Delegates had difficulty reaching consensus on text regarding
environmental impact and sustai nability assessments of trade agree-
ments. The G-77/China maintained that language on assessments
might be used later asaconditionality on trade. No agreement was
reached on Norway-proposed text on the devel opmental and environ-
mental implications of trade barriers and on financial and technical
support for countries undertaking environmental impact and sustain-
ability assessments of trade agreements.

Final Decision: Theintroduction to the decision notes: that activi-
tiesregarding economic growth, trade and investment should be
pursued in accordance with Agenda 21 and the outcome of UNCTAD-
X; trade and investment are important factors in economic growth and
sustainable devel opment; theimportance of taking into account the
different levelsof devel opment of countries, and common but differen-
tiated responsibilities; and the challenge for devel oping countries and
countrieswith economiesin transition (EITs) to stimulate domestic
investment and attract FDI.

The section on prioritiesfor future work addresses: promoting
sustai nable devel opment through investment, trade and economic
growth; making trade and environmental policiesmutually supportive;
and strengthening institutional cooperation, capacity building and
promoting partnerships.

In the section on promoting sustai nabl e devel opment through trade
and economic growth, governments and international organizations
areurged to: support efforts of devel oping countries, particularly
LDCs, in building capacity to eradicate poverty, expand productive
employment, and improve living standards; and improve market
access, provide technical assistance and establish capacity building
initiativesin favor of devel oping countriesand ElTswith aview to
hel ping them increase export opportunities, promotediversified
export-oriented production and enhance their ability to trade, and to
implement their commitments enshrined in existing multilateral agree-
ments. Thetext also: notes commodity exports are the mainstay of
many devel oping country economies; calls on governmentsand inter-
national organizationsto improve the functioning of commodity

markets; and urges governmentsto pursue continued trade liberaliza-
tion through, inter alia, the elimination of unjustifiable and discrimi-
natory trade practices and non-tariff barriersto trade.

The section further highlights:

» market accessconditionsfor agricultural and industrial products
of export interest to devel oping countries;

 food security asapriority areafor sustainable agricultural devel-
opment;

* theequitabledistribution of the benefitsarising fromincreased
tradeliberalization;

« thepromotion of indigenous development of ESTs;

 implementation of the UNCTAD-X Plan of Action; and

« thepromotion of marketsfor environmentally-friendly products,

ESTsand environmental services.

Text on making trade and environment policies mutually
supportive highlights: the complementarities between trade liberaliza-
tionand environmental protection; certification and labelling schemes;
the pursuit of effective environmental measures; consideration of the
rel ationship between MEAsand WTO Agreements; and EST transfer.

On promoting sustai nabl e devel opment through investment,
governments are encouraged to promote a stable, predictable, non-
discriminatory and transparent investment climate, and to addressthe
potential risks of short-term capital flows. In addition, the decision
recommends that governments and international organizations:

» explorewaysto ensurethat alarger number of devel oping
countriesand EI Tsbenefit from investment;

 seek to promote use of environmental management systemsand
transfer of ESTS;

¢ encourage companiesto takeresponsibility to promote sustainable
development;

 explorethepotential for improving environmental performance
aong the supply chain; and

« explorethepotential roleof voluntary guidelinesfor making
investment more broadly supportive of sustainable development.

On strengthening institutional cooperation, capacity building and
promoting partnerships, thetext: notesthe use of environmental
assessmentsin countries and the work of UNEP and UNCTAD inthis
regard; stressesthat assessments of trade policies should be conducted
with aview to promoting sustai nable devel opment and should not
serve asadisguised barrier to trade; urgesthe improvement of policy
coherence; and encourages public-private sector partnerships and
international cooperation for capacity building in trade, environment
and devel opment policy formulation.

THE TEN-YEAR REVIEW OF PROGRESSACHIEVED IN
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE OUTCOME OF UNCED
(RIO+10): The CSD agreed on recommendationsto be brought to the
attention of ECOSOC and the GA regarding preparationsfor the ten-
year review of progress achieved in implementation of the outcome of
the United Nations Conference on Environment and Devel opment
(Rio+10). Discussions on theissue were based on the Secretary-
General’s Report on preliminary views and suggestions on prepara-
tionsfor Rio+10 (E/CN.17/2000/15), and on the views expressed
during the High-Level Segment. Negotiationstook placein Drafting
Group 1.

During the High-Level discussions, it was recommended, inter
alia, that Rio+10 should: be at the Head of Government level; beina
developing country; coincide with ratification of the Kyoto Protocol;
focus on poverty elimination, resource and energy efficiency; and
deliver action programmes on fisheries, food, freshwater and forests.



Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 8

In the discussions on the text of the decision, anumber of conten-
tiousissuesarose, including, inter alia: defining the Rio+10 agenda;
the nature of the relati onship between Rio+10 and Agenda 21; and
defining which Convention secretariats should beinvolved in the
participatory process.

Final Decision: The CSD decisionon Rio+10 (E/CN.17/2000/L.7)
stressesthat theten-year review should focus on theimplementation of
Agenda 21, the Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda
21, and other outcomes of UNCED. It emphasizesthat Agenda 21
should constitute the framework for reviewing the outcomes of
UNCED, and for addressing new challenges and opportunitiesthat
have emerged sincethe conference. The decision stressesthat Agenda
21 should not be renegotiated, and that the review of progress should
result in action-oriented decisions and renewed political commitment
for sustainable devel opment.

Noting that the nature of the preparatory processwill be deter-
mined at the 55th session of the GA, the CSD underlinestheimpor-
tance of early preparations at thelocal, national and regional levels,
and encourages effective contributions from all major groups. It
invites governmentsto undertake national review processesasearly as
possible, noting that national reports on implementation of Agenda 21
could provide abasisfor guiding the preparatory processes. The UN
Secretariat isinvited to work in close cooperation with arange of orga-
nizations, agencies and programmes within and outside the UN,
including international and regional financial institutions, in
supporting the preparatory activities.

The CSD recommendsthat the GA at its 55th session: consider
organizing the 2002 review as a Summit-level event, preferably ina
developing country; decide that CSD-10 be transformed into an open-
ended preparatory committee providing for the full and effective
participation of al governments; and decide on the agenda, possible
main themes, timing and venue of the event, aswell ason related
procedural matters. It is proposed that the first meeting of CSD-10 be
held immediately after CSD-9 and be expanded to commencework as
the preparatory committee for the 2002 event. Onfinancing, itis
recommended that atrust fund be established with voluntary contribu-
tionsfrom national and international donors.

INTERGOVERNMENTAL FORUM ON FORESTS (IFF):
ECOSOC established the | FF in resol ution 1997/65, with amandate to
report on itswork to CSD-8. The IFF met four times between October
1997 and January 2000 to “identify the possible elements of and work
towards consensusoninternational arrangements and mechanisms, for
example, alegally-binding instrument.”

During the High-Level Segment, | FF Co-Chairs |Ikka Ristimaki
and Bagher Asadi outlined the | FF process and results. Many delega-
tions endorsed the report and outcomes of the | FF, particularly the
creation of the UNFF. The US announced avoluntary contribution for
thetransition from the IFF to the UNFF. The draft decision wasintro-
duced in Drafting Group 11, but there was no discussion on theissue.

Final Decision: In Plenary, Drafting Group |11 Chair Basmgjiev
outlined the draft decision on the Report of the | FF (E/CN.17/2000/
L.9), which: welcomesthe report of the | FF; invites ECOSOC and the
GA totake action on the proposed terms of referencefor an interna-
tional arrangement on forests; and invitesthe President of ECOSOC to
initiateinformal consultations on optionsfor placing the proposed
UNFF withinthe UN system.

PENULTIMATE PLENARY MEETING

CSD-8 Chair Mayr convened the penultimate Plenary on Friday, 5
May, at 10:00 a.m. and invited delegatesto begin with consideration of
the Report of the Ad Hoc Open-Ended Intergovernmental Group of
Experts on Energy and Sustainable Devel opment (E/CN.17/2000/12).

Mohammed Salamat (Iran), Co-Chair of the Expert Group, reported on
fruitful discussionsand dialogue, and informed delegates of plansto
hold asecond session in February 2001, before the meeting of the CSD
Intersessional Working Groups. Co-Chair Irene Freudenschuss Reichl
(Austria) encouraged del egationsto shareinformation to promote
transparency and participation, aswell asNGO involvement, in
preparing for the upcoming intersessional work on energy. She
appealed for voluntary contributionsto support devel oping country
participation.

Drafting Group 111 Chair Basmajiev presented three decisionsfor
adoption: taking note of the Report of the First Session of the
Committee on Energy and Natural Resources (E/CN.17/2000/L.4);
taking note of the sub-programme entitled “ Sustai nabl e devel opment”
of the draft medium-term plan of the UN for the period 2002-2005 (E/
CN.17/2000/L .5); and M attersrelated to the intersessional work of the
Commission (E/CN.17/2000/L.6). All three decisions were adopted.

The Report of the Secretary-General on programmesrelating to
Education, Public Awareness and Training (E/CN.17/2000/8),
presented by the Netherlands, on behalf of the EU, waswithdrawn
after informal-informal discussions. The review of the ACC subcom-
mittee on water resources (E/CN.17.2000/18) was rejected because of
the already extensiveagendafor CSD-9. The reportson progress made
in providing safe water supply and sanitation for all during the 1990s
(E/CN.17/2000/13), and on voluntary initiatives (E/CN.17.2000/17)
were noted.

Basmajiev reported on the successful results of deliberations
regarding preparations for the ten-year review of the implementation
of Agenda 21 (E/CN.17/2000/L.7), and the decision was adopted. The
US, opposed by Japan and the G-77/China, dissociated himself from
consensus regarding the location of Rio+10 in adevel oping country,
maintaining that his del egation does not support convening any new
international conferenceswithinthe UN system. Preliminary views
and suggestions on the preparationsfor the ten-year review of UNCED
(E/CN.17/2000/15) were adopted. A Report by the Secretary-General
on national reporting to the CSD (E/CN.17/2000/16) was al so adopted.

Basmgjiev then introduced the draft decision on the IFF (E/CN.17/
2000/L.9), that he had negotiated informally. The Secretariat outlined
provisions and issues regarding funding and staffing i ssues contained
in the annex of the IFF Report (E/CN.17/2000/14). The draft decision
onthe IFF was adopted. Canada highlighted the | FF as one of the best
examples of what the CSD can do when it isfocused on anissue. The
G-77/China, along with Brazil, Cuba, the EU, Honduras, Morocco, the
Russian Federation, Sudan, and the US, congratulated | FF Co-Chairs
Asadi and Ristimaki for their work.

In hisclosing remarks, CSD-8 Chair Mayr outlined hisvision for
the CSD and the Rio+10 process. He said the new millennium raises
new challengesfor governments, the private sector and civil society
that need to be analyzed from the perspective of sustainable devel op-
ment. He called for atransparent framework for decision-making to
contributeto greater confidencein arevitalized consultation processin
thewake of the Seattle meeting of the WTO. Healso called for: access
for the greatest possible number of participants, including major
groups, at the UN Millennium Assembly; the extension of an informal
format for ministerial meetingsat the CSD tothe High-Level Segment,
in order to facilitate effective dialogue with multi-sectoral participa-
tion; arolefor the CSD in defining sol utionsto problems negotiated in
other bodies, with an emphasis on dialogue rather than negotiation;
and an active and preparatory process|eading up to Rio+10.

Intheir tributesto the CSD-8 Chair: Argentinathanked Mayr for
theway in which he had directed the meeting; the G-77/China,
supported by Brazil, said he would aways be part and parcel of the
CSD process; Japan, supported by Canada, underlined the Chair’s



Vol. 5No. 157 Page 9

Monday, 8 May 2000

viewson vitalizing the High-L evel Segment at the CSD and creating a
closer link between the ministerial discussionsand the work of
drafting groups; Cuba called for amore change at the CSD; the EU
thanked the Chair for his contribution to the arrangements for ministe-
rial participation; and the US paid tribute to the Chair’s dynamism, in
particular during the first week of the session, and noted the impor-
tance of hiscall for an emphasis on dial ogue rather than negotiations.

Chair Mayr announced plansfor Drafting Groups| and 1 to recon-
venein order to complete their work and adjourned the Plenary just
after 12:00 p.m.

CLOSING PLENARY

CSD-8 Vice-Chair Choi Seok-young called the closing Plenary to
order at 3:15 am. on Saturday, 6 May. Heintroduced the informal
papers containing the negotiated outcomes on the Agenda 21 sectoral
theme of Integrated Planning and Management of Land Resources,
and on the economi ¢ sector of Agriculture. Drafting Group | Chair
McDonnell stated that, after initial negotiationsin the group, intensive
negotiations had been concluded in a contact group facilitated by
Navid Hanif, and consensus had been reached on all outstanding para-
graphs. McDonnell reported that the papers on land and agriculture
had been adopted by the Drafting Group and thanked thefacilitator,
the Secretariat and del egations. The decisionson Integrated Planning
and Management of Land Resources and on Agriculture were then
adopted. The Plenary also noted the relevant documents: the Report of
the Secretary-General onintegrated planning and management of land
resources(E/CN.17/2000/6 and E/CN.17/2000/6/Add.1, Add.2, Add.3
and Add.4); the Report of the Intersessional Ad Hoc Working Group
on Integrated Planning and M anagement of Land Resources; and on
Agriculture (E/CN.17/2000/11); the Report of the Secretary-General
on Sustainable Agriculture (E/CN.17/2000/5 and E/CN.17/2000/5/
Add.1); and the Report of the Multi-Stakeholder Dialogue (E/CN.17/
2000/3 and E/CN.17/2000/3/Add.1, Add.2, Add.3 and Add.4).

Drafting Group Il Chair Seok-young introduced theinformal
papers containing the negotiated outcomes on the sectoral themes of
Financial Resources and M echanisms, Economic Growth, Trade and
Investment. Seok-young reported on the negotiationsthat led to the
production of two papers, one on Financial Resources and Mecha-
nisms and another dealing with Economic Growth, Trade and I nvest-
ment. He reported that both papers contained bracketed text.

Seok-young then invited recommendations on a bracketed refer-
enceto the“gradual phasing out” of trade-distorting and environmen-
tally harmful subsidies. He suggested that the brackets be removed.
Japan said he could agree to the removal of bracketsif the words
“trade-distorting” were also removed. The G-77/China, supported by
the US, preferred to replace “gradual phasing out” with areferenceto
the“reduction” of trade-distorting and environmental harmful subsi-
dies. New Zealand favored the“ elimination” of subsidies or the
removal of the entire phrase. Del egati ons supported arecommendation
from the Chair that the entire phrase be del eted.

Regarding the enhanced HIPC initiative, Seok-young explained
that no consensus had been reached in Drafting Group |1 on areference
to cancellation “and equivalent relief” of bilateral official debt to qual-
ifying countries. Japan stated hisfull commitment to implementing the
initiative, announcing additional measuresworth up to US$200
million. He agreed to the del etion of the words*“ and equivalent relief.”
He asked that the report of CSD-8 record that theterm “relief” be
recognized as equivalent to cancellation. The G-77/Chinasaid the

resulting text on the enhanced HIPC initiative was one of the major
outcomes of CSD-8. The paper on Financial Resources and Mecha-
nismswas adopted, as amended.

Seok-young turned to the paper on Economic Growth, Trade and
Investment, noting that three paragraphs remained in brackets. He
proposed removing brackets from text urging governments and inter-
national organizationsto enhance understanding of the economic and
social implications of trade measuresfor environmental trade
purposes, including the effects of environmental requirements on the
exports of developing countries. The US, supported by Australiaand
New Zealand, said that to avoid anew round of negotiations, the
sentence should be deleted. The G-77/Chinaagreed, the text was
deleted, and the paragraph was adopted as amended.

I'n asection on promoting sustai nable devel opment through invest-
ment, Seok-young proposed removing bracketsfromtext that: stressed
the need to promote sustai ned economic growth and sustai nable devel-
opment, in particular in devel oping countries, emphasi zed that the use
of unjustifiable and discriminatory trade practices and non-tariff
barriersto tradeis harmful to devel oping countries; and noted that it
would beinappropriateto relax environmental laws, regulations, stan-
dardsor their enforcement in order to encourage FDI or to promote
exports. Thetext was deleted, and the paragraph was adopted as
amended.

The Chair proposed del eting bracketed referencesto research on
the possible trade implications and applications of the Rio principles
of common but differentiated responsibilities, the polluter pays prin-
ciple and the precautionary principle. The US noted that most of this
paragraph was bracketed, that he could not agreeto any of the refer-
ences, and called for deletion of all the text. The paper on Economic
Growth, Trade and I nvestment was adopted, as amended.

Seok-young moved onto Agendaltem 9, the provisional agenda
for CSD-9 (E/CN.17/2000/L .8). The agendaincludesthe sectoral
themes of energy and atmosphere, the cross-sectoral themes of infor-
mation for decision-making and international cooperation for an
enabling environment, and the economic sector of transport. The G-
77/Chinacalled for streamlining the number of themesto be addressed
by the CSD. Delegates approved the provisional agendaand then
adopted thereport of CSD-8 (E/CN.17/2000/L .1) and noted a number
of background documents. In closing statements, Seok-young noted
the amount of effort over the past two weeksto make CSD-8
successful, and thanked the Secretariat. Statements of appreciation
were made by Brazil, the G-77/China, the EU, and the US. CSD-8
adjourned at 4:30 am.

CSD-9 PLENARY

Following adjournment of CSD-8, Choi Seok-young declared
open thefirst meeting of CSD-9 to elect the Bureau. He announced
that Bedrich Moldan (Czech Republic) had been nominated by the
Eastern European Group as Chair of CSD-9. Moldan was el ected by
acclamation and, after the prompting of the delegate of Sudan, Seok-
young turned the podium over to Moldan, who expressed his apprecia-
tion and noted hislong-term involvement with the CSD process. He
announced that David Stuart (Australia), Alison Drayton (Guyana)
and MatiaKiwanuka (Uganda) had been nominated to serveasVice-
Chairs. He explained that the Asian Group had not yet nominated a
candidate for the Bureau. Del egates el ected the Vice-Chairs by accla-
mation, and the meeting was adjourned at 4:40 a.m.



Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 10

A BRIEF ANALY SIS OF CSD-8

Asdelegatesgathered in New York, there was good reason for both
hei ghtened expectations and a sense of trepidation. On the one hand,
there was an expectation that the charismatic Chair, Colombia’s Juan
Mayr, fresh from leading the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety toa
successful conclusion, would work the same magic at the CSD. On the
other, asense of trepidation clung to the proceedings, given the
meeting’s ambitious agenda.

Post-Sedttle, it is hard to imagine apotentially more acrimonious
agendafor CSD-8 del egates than the cross-sectoral theme of finance,
trade and investment, and the sectoral theme of sustainable agriculture
and land management. Add to this heady mix the commencement of
debate on Preparationsfor Earth Summit 2002, and it isnot surprising
that del egates found themselves till disputing text at 4:00 am. on
Saturday morning, 15 hoursafter the session was scheduled to adjourn.

Thisbrief analysis seeksto review the expectations and outcomes
of CSD-8 by examining two questions: Did CSD-8 make the most of
itspotential asaforum for dialogue on cross-sectoral sustainability
issues? Or were del egates— many of whom came from New York
mi ssions during the second week — simply unableto divorce them-
selvesfrom the tendency to reiterate entrenched positions?

“WE HAVE TO ASK OURSELVES...”

Unlike most ECOSOC commissions, the CSD hashad the potential
to succeed asaforum for dial ogue on cross-sectoral issues between
government del egates and representatives from major groups.
However, for its potential to befully realized, the CSD needsto build
on its pioneering endeavorsto engage civil society and to encourage
“frank, sincere and transparent” dialogue. It isthisfeature of the CSD
that distinguishesit, and that givesit the potential to develop innova
tiveresponsesto theincreasingly visible challenges associated with
sustai nable development.

Verdicts on the extent to which CSD-8 lived up to its potential are
varied. Whiletherewas certainly rich input during the Multi-Stake-
holder Dia ogue sessions—including, for thefirst time, concise and
provocative expert recommendations, aswell as considered comments
from youth representatives, and a passionate demonstration of sustain-
ably-farmed Kenyan corn cobs—thereisthe concern that most of these
recommendationsfell on deaf ears. Some delegatesfelt that the Chair
may have been at fault in failing to use the format of thedialoguetoits
full advantage. Noting that in past yearsthe dialogue resulted in
recommendations based on stakehol der consensus achieved under the
Chair’s guidance, various commentators suggested that thisyear’s
dialogue had not achieved astrong common focus. An alternative view
contends that the aim of the Multi-Stakeholder Dialogueisnot to
contribute to the consensus, but rather to reflect the different points of
view of all the sectors. The gap appearsto liein the absence of amech-
anism for integrating input into actual documentsand proposals. This
gap iscompounded by thefact that some del egatesinvolved in negoti-
ating thedraft decisionswere not even present in the dialogue sessions.
Asapossiblesolution, Chair Mayr has suggested earlier and formal
opportunitiesfor stakeholder input during the intersessional meetings
of the CSD. However, thisin itself may not be enough.

The CSD iscurrently suffering from aloss of credibility, marked
by aninability to truly advance sustainable devel opment at the interna-
tional level. Even among the seasoned delegates, thereis evidence of
increasing cynicism. Asone negotiator put it, during astalematein
negotiations: “I’ m tempted simply to agree because | cannot takethis
[process] seriously. However, | have friendswho believein this
process, so | must consult.” Or asaUS representative expressed it,
during extended debates on text regarding therol e of the private sector

and the GEF: “We haveto ask ourselves... Sowhat?’ Thereislittle
dispute that thereisaneed to improve this process, without which the
CSD will continueto fail to achieveits potential.

MOVING OFF THE PLATFORMS?

During the High-Level Segment, one minister, on her first official
visittothe UN, wondered al oud whether her statement had in fact been
heard by delegates, comparing the atmospherein the Conference
Room to that of atrain station. This background banter reflects one of
the understood realities of the CSD: that the High-Level Segment
serves asapolicy trade-show in which policy-makers gather together
for bilateral discussions, whiletaking only apassing interest in the
prepared statements being read by their colleagues. Such agathering of
policy-makers offersthe opportunity for constructive output, particu-
larly if the high-level delegates can be persuaded to leave behind their
political baggage, and engagein frank exchanges and clarifications
during theformal and informal sessions.

While Mayr was ableto add alevel of substanceto the High-Level
Segment through the inclusion of anumber of expertswho initiated
themati ¢ discussions, he was unable to persuade most high-level dele-
gatesto crossthe gap from using the CSD asaplatform for presenting
entrenched positionsto anew train of thought that many seeasbeing
necessary to address the challenges of globalization and sustainable
development.

Thereliance on old, familiar positions was further evidenced
during the negotiations, where the bones of contention were predict-
able and well-rehearsed, focusing on such issues as: good governance;
the relationship between multilateral environmental agreementsand
the WTO; theremoval of subsidiesin developed countries; references
to common but differentiated responsibilities and the precautionary
principle; and theinclusion of referenceto “legal” security of tenure
and “equal access’ toland to all people. These debatesinvolved strong
political agendas, and the aim of consolidating politically contentious
issuesthat are being addressed in other forums.

Not surprisingly, some of the most protracted negotiations related
totext on conceptsthat could be used asacloak for protectionism. This
was evidenced most visibly in the discussions on the use of environ-
mental impact assessmentsfor trade, and on the multifunctional char-
acter of agriculture, described by a South African Minister in the High-
Level discussionsas*“aTechnicolor cloak” that needsto be“ decon-
structed asthe neo-colonialism which it isin effect and fact.” The
nature of such deliberations during CSD-8 lends credence to the
concern that the CSD remains little more than aform of proto-negotia-
tion. Whilethismight not be surprising, it isquestionablewhether such
debate could ever result in the CSD achieving thelevel of leadership
necessary for advancing sustainabl e devel opment.

CONCLUSION: LOOKING BACK WHILE MOVING AHEAD

L ooking back, there remains some cause for satisfaction with the
outcome of CSD-8. The negotiations on preparationsfor Rio+10 were
conducted in high spirit, and resulted in a decision with which most
seemed to be pleased. Although agreement could not be reached on
several of the coreissues on trade and agriculture, anumber of dele-
gates expressed satisfaction with theincremental progressmadein
some of the compromise text. And, in the closing words of the Cana-
dian delegate, the decision on forests*isone of the most significantin
CSD history” and agood example of what the CSD is capabl e of
achieving. The CSD does has the potential to serve asan international
forum for transparent dial ogue and to promote greater policy coordina
tion, both of which are essential a ong the path to sustainable develop-
ment. But CSD-8 was incapable of achieving these goals, having
tripped over its own acrimonious agenda.



Vol. 5No. 157 Page 11

Monday, 8 May 2000

As CSD delegates and major groups begin looking ahead to 2002
and preparing for Rio+10, the lessons from CSD-8 must not be
forgotten. Divisions have already emerged on the location of thisnext
Earth Summit, issuesfor consideration and the proposed outcome.
Even Chair Mayr got caught up in the fray as he attempted to shapethe
Rio+10 agenda. Anticipation may be high, but some have expressed
words of caution. Asthe US del egate put it, there is concern that
Rio+10 may end up as“a conference celebrating aconference;” or, in
thewords of Time magazineinits Earth Day 2000 Special Edition,
nothing morethan “aglobal gabfest and photo-op.” CSD-8 (and other
recent global conferences) have madeit clear that to be successful, the
next Earth Summit cannot saddle itself with too ambitious an agenda,
reiterate entrenched positions or fail to find away to integrate contri-
butionsfrom major stakeholdersinto theintegovernmental negotiating
process. Eight years ago, al eyeswere on Rio asthe Earth Summit
ignited flames of passion on all sides of the sustainable development
debate. It'snot too late to re-ignite those flames and realize the poten-
tial of the Earth Summit, Agenda 21 and the CSD.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON THE FUTURE OF
THE MEDITERRANEAN RURAL ENVIRONMENT: PROS-
PECTSFOR SUSTAINABLE LAND USE AND MANAGE-
MENT: Thisconferencewill be heldin Menemen, Turkey, from 8-11
May 2000. The conference will bring together socioeconomic experts,
scientific researchers and government policy makers, with aview to
discussing the future and sustainabl e devel opment of Mediterranean
rural areas. For moreinformation, contact: Prof. Peter Bullock,
Conference Organizing Committee, Cranfield University, tel: +44
(0)1525 863000; fax: +44 (0)1525 863001; e-mail: |.stewart@cran-
field.ac.uk; Internet: http://www.silsoe.cranfield.ac.uk/Forthcomin-
gEvents/turkish_conference.htm.

ISTANBUL +5FIRST PREPARATORY MEETING: The
Commission on Human Settlementswill meet in Nairobi, Kenya, from
8-12 May 2000. The Commission will be acting asthe preparatory
committee for athree-day special session in June 2001 to review and
appraise theimplementation of the outcome of the Second United
Nations Conference on Human Settlements (Habitat 11). For more
information, contact: Ms. Axumite Gebre-Egziabher, Coordinator,
Istanbul +5, tel: +254 (2) 623831; fax: +254 (2) 624262; e-mail:
Axumite.Gebre-Egziabher @unchs.org; Internet: http://
www.istanbul5.org

FIFTH INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON CLEAN
TECHNOLOGIESFOR THE MINING INDUSTRY: Thisconfer-
ence, to be held in Santiago, Chilefrom 9-13 May 2000, aimsto
review the most recent scientific and technol ogical advanceson energy
savings and less contaminating processesfor mineral processing and
extractive metallurgy. For moreinformation, contact: Dr. Mario A.
Sanchez, Depto. IngenieriaMetal urgica, Facultad de Ingenieria,
Universidad de Concepcion, Edmundo Larenas 270, Casilla53-C,
Concepcion, Chile; tel: +56-41-204241; fax: +56-41-243418; Internet:
http://www.met.udec.cl/eventos.html.

INTERNATIONAL KYMBO CONFERENCE ON KYOTO
MECHANISMSBUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES: Thisconference
will beheld from 11-12 May 2000, in Lisbon, Portugal. For more
information, contact: Fatima Camelo; tel: +351-22-208 06 70; e-mail:
kymbo@iidsgmg.com; I nternet: http://ew6zyz.esoterica.pt/kymbo/
kymbo.htm

PLANETWORK CONFERENCE ON GLOBAL ECOLOGY
AND INFORMATION TECHNOL OGY: Thisconference, which
will be held from 12-14 May 2000, in San Francisco, USA, will

explore ways that information technology —including the Internet —
can help create a sustainable future. For moreinformation, contact:
PlaNetwork, 1230 Market Street, Suite 517, San Francisco, CA 94102,
USA,; tel: +1-415-436-0123; e-mail: information@planet-
workers.com; Internet: http://www.planetworkers.org/planet.html.

FIFTH MEETING OF THE CBD CONFERENCE OF THE
PARTIES (COP-5): COP-5 of the CBD will meet in Nairobi, Kenya,
from 15-26 May 2000. For moreinformation, contact: CBD Secre-
tariat, World Trade Centre Building, 292 Saint-Jacques Street, Suite
300, Montréal, Quebec, CanadaH2Y 1N9; tel: +1 (514) 288-2220;
fax: +1 (514) 288-6588; e-mail: secretariat@biodiv.org; Internet:
http://www.biodiv.org/cop5/index.html

SUSTAINABLE ENERGY —NEW CHALLENGESFOR
AGRICULTURE AND IMPLICATIONSFOR LAND USE: This
conferencewill be held from 18-20 May 2000, at Wageningen Univer-
sity, the Netherlands. Its main objectiveisto bring together economists
and scientistsworking in the area of sustainable energy and land use
modeling, to discusstheimplicationsfor agriculture of atransition
toward a society that relies on sustainable energy. For moreinforma-
tion, contact: Will Bodde, Congress Office, Wageningen University,
Costerweg 50, 6701 BH Wageningen, the Netherlands; fax: +31-317-
485309; e-mail: will.bodde@alg.vl.wau.nl; Internet: http://
www.slswau.nl/congresme/default.htm.

UNEP GOVERNING COUNCIL SIXTH SPECIAL
SESSION: The Sixth Special Session of the United Nations Environ-
ment Programme's Governing Council will convene from 29-31 May
2000, in Mamé, Sweden. The meeting will consider major challenges
to environmental policiesinthe new century, the future role of UNEP
inthe UN system, and preparations for the Earth Summitin 2002. The
21st regular session of UNEP's Governing Council isscheduled for 5-9
February 2001, in Nairobi, Kenya. For moreinformation contact:
Beverly Miller, UNEP, Nairobi, Kenya; tel: +254-2-62-3411; fax:
+254-2-62-3748; e-mail: Beverly.Miller@unep.org

BEIJING +5: The GA Special Session on gender equality, devel-
opment and peacefor the 21st century will be held from 5-9 June 2000,
at UN Headquartersin New York. It will be preceded by interessional
informal meetingsto finalize work on the outcome document,
currently scheduled for 8, 9, 11 and 15-16 and 24-30 May 2000, at UN
Headquarters. The Special Sessionwill review and assess the progress
achieved in the implementation of the Nairobi Forward-L ooking Strat-
egiesfor the Advancement of Women, adopted in 1985, and the
Beijing Platform for Action, adopted at the 1995 Fourth World Confer-
ence on Womenin Beijing. It will also consider future actionsand
initiativesfor the year 2000 and beyond. For moreinformation,
contact: UN Division for the Advancement of Women, 2 UN Plaza,
DC 2-12th Floor, New York, NY 10017 USA; fax +1 (212) 963-3463;
e-mail: daw@un.org; Internet: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/
followup/beijing+5.htm.

12TH SESSION OF THE FCCC SUBSIDIARY BODIES: SB-
12 will be held in Bonn, Germany, from 12-16 June 2000. It will be
preceded by oneweek of informal meetings, including workshops. For
more information contact: the FCCC Secretariat; tel: +49-228-815-
1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secretariat @unfccc.de;
Internet: http://www.unfccc.int

ECOEFFICIENCY 2000— TOWARD SUSTAINABLE
ECONOMIC GROWTH: Thisconferencewill be heldin Malmg,
Sweden, from 19-21 June 2000. EcoEfficiency 2000 will present strat-
egiesfor attaining sustai nable economic growth on the societal,
company and product level, and will explore how profit can be
increased and environmental impact reduced by applying the EcoEffi-
ciency concept to infrastructure, corporate strategy, product devel op-
ment, and use of materialsand energy. For moreinformation, contact:



Monday, 8 May 2000

Vol. 5 No. 157 Page 12

Anette Blomstrand or PetraKvist, Conference and Congress Planning,
BokningsBolaget, Torstenssonsgatan 3, 114 56 Stockholm, Sweden;
tel: +46-8-660-8595; fax: +46-8-663-1745; e-mail: congress@bokn-
ingsholaget.se; Internet: http://www.nutek.se/information/
ecoefficiency2000/index.html.

FIFTH INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ONHEALTH,
SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT IN OIL AND GAS
EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION: Thismeeting isbeing
organized by UNEP's Production and Consumption Unit and will be
held in Stavanger, Norway, from 26-28 June 2000. For moreinforma-
tion, contact: Fritz Balkau, UNEP TIE-P& C, Paris, France; tel: +33-1-
44-37-14-50; fax: +33-3-44-37-14-74; e-mail: unepie@unep.fr;
Internet: http://www.uneptie.org/home.html

WORLD RENEWABLE ENERGIESCONGRESS: This
meeting will be held from 1-7 July 2000, in Brighton, England. Hosted
by the World Renewable Energy Network, it isbeing co-sponsored by
severa organizations, including UNESCO, UNDP and the European
Economic Commission. For moreinformation, contact: A. Sayigh,
147 Hilmanton, Lower Earley, Reading RG6 4HN, UK;; tel: +44-1189-
611-364; fax: +44-1189-611-365; e-mail: asayigh@netcomuk.co.uk;
Internet: http://www.wrenuk.co.uk/brighton/topics.html#topics.

COPENHAGEN +5: The Specia Session of the GA onthe Imple-
mentation of the Outcome of the World Summit for Social Develop-
ment and Further Initiativeswill be held from 26-30 June 2000, in
Geneva. For moreinformation, contact: GloriaKan, Chief, Intergov-
ernmental Policy Branch, Division for Socia Policy Development,
Department of Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations, Room
DC2-1362, NY, NY 10017 USA; tel: +1-(212) 963-5873; fax: +1(212)
963-3062; e-mail: kan@un.org; Internet: http://www.un.org/esa/
socdev/geneva2000/

URBAN 21-GLOBAL CONFERENCE ON THE URBAN
FUTURE: Thisconferencewill be held from 4-6 July 2000, in Berlin,
Germany. Itisone of the key elements of the Global Initiative on
Sustainable Development, sponsored by Brazil, Germany, Singapore
and South Africa. For moreinformation, contact: Federal Officefor
Building and Regional Planning, Am Michael shof 8, D-53177 Bonn,
Germany; fax: +49-1888-401-2315; e-mail: information@urban21.de;
Internet: http://www.urban21.de/

SHAPING THE SUSTAINABLE MILLENNIUM, COLLAB-
ORATIVE APPROACHES: Thismeeting will be held from 5-7 July
2000, in Brishane, Australia. Themesto be discussed include: sustain-
able communitiesin the built environment; industrial and construction
ecology; green design and architecture; and information, communica-
tion and education. For moreinformation, contact: Jodie Doolan,
Conference Secretariat, Faculty of Built Environment and Engi-
neering, Queensland University of Technology, 2 George Street, GPO
Box 2434, Brisbane, Queensland 4001, Australia; tel: +61-7-3864-
1764; e-mail: cibconference@qut.edu.au; Internet: http://
olt.qut.edu.au/int/sel by/events/Conference/defaul t.htm.

CONGRESSOF THE 29TH INTERNATIONAL
GEOGRAPHICAL UNION COMMISSION ON CLIMA-
TOLOGY: Thisconferencewill be held from 9-13 August 2000, in
Seoul, South Korea. Thetheme of the conferenceis*” Climate Change
and itsImpacts.” For moreinformation, contact: Hyoun-Young Lee,

Department of Geography, Konkuk University, 93-1, Mojin-dong,
Kwangjin-gu, Seoul, 143-701, South Koreg; tel: 822-446-6756; fax:
822-446-8194; e-mail: leekwons@kkucc.konkuk.ac.kr.

SEMINARSON ENERGY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVEL OP-
MENT INLATINAMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN: TheLatin
American Energy Organization and the German Government are
among the sponsors of anumber of sub-regional seminarson Energy
and Sustainable Development in Latin Americaand the Caribbean:
Approachesto Energy Policy. The seminarswill take place asfollows:
Central America, from 13-20 August 2000, in alocation to be
announced; Andean Community, from 10-17 September 2000, in
Ecuador; Mercosur with Chile and Bolivia, from 1-8 October 2000, at
UN-ECLAR, Santiago, Chile. For moreinformation, contact: Fran-
cisco Figueruera; e-mail: figueroa@olade.org.ec.

SECOND EUROPEAN SYMPOSIUM ON AEROBIOLOGY:
Thissymposium will be held from 4-9 September 2000, in Vienna,
Austria. Topicsto be covered include: image analysisin aerobiology,
multimediainformation techniques and new analysis and sampling
techniques. For moreinformation, contact: Organizing Secretariat
SciCon, Pharma Science— Consulting Gm.b.H., Fesstgasse 16/1/R2,
A-1160 Wien, Austrig; tel: +43-1-405-30-70; fax: +43-1-405-30-91; e-
mail: scicon@vienna.at.

OECD MILESTONE CONFERENCE ON ENVIRONMEN-
TALLY SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT AND STRATEGIES: This
conferencewill be held in October 2000, in Vienna, Austria. It will
mark the culmination of the OECD project on Environmentally
Sustainable Transport and serve asaforum to consider how OECD
Member Countries canimplement the necessary changesin their trans-
port systemsin order to achieve more sustai nable devel opment
patterns. For more information, contact: Peter Wiederkehr, OECD,
OECD Environment Directorate, 2, rue Andre Pascal, 75775 Paris
Cedex 16, France; tel: +33-1-45-24-78-92; e-mail:
peter.wiederkehr@oecd.org; Internet: http://www.oecd.org/env/ccst/
est/curract/vienna2000/viennai ndex.htm.

SIXTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIESTO THE
FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE:
COP-6 will be heldin The Hague, the Netherlands, from 13-24
November 2000. For moreinformation, contact: the UNFCCC Secre-
tariat; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secre-
tariat@unfccc.de; Internet: http://www.unfccc.int

FOURTH SESSION OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE
PARTIESTO THE CONVENTION TO COMBAT DESERTIFI-
CATION: COP-4istentatively scheduled to meet from 25 September
- 6 October 2000, in Adelaide, Australia. For moreinformation contact
the CCD Secretariat, PO. Box 260129, D-53153 Bonn, Germany; tel:
+49-228-815-2800; fax: +49-228-815-2899; e-mail: secre-
tariat@unccd.de; Internet: http://www.unccd.de

SEVENTH INTERNATIONAL ENERGY FORUM: The
Government of Saudi Arabiawill host the Seventh International
Energy Forum, from 17-19 November 2000, in Riyadh. For informa-
tion, contact: Ministry of Petroleum and Mineras, Riyadh, Saudi
Arabiaor the Saudi Arabian Mission tothe UN, 405 Lexington
Avenue, 56th Floor, New York, N.Y. 10017, USA; tel: +1-212-697-
4830; fax: +1-212-983-4895; e-mail: saudiarabia@un.int.



